
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF OHIO

EASTERN DIVISION

PATRICK W. HEAPS, et al,

Plaintiffs, Case No. 2:10-cv-729
JUDGE GREGORY L. FROST
Magistrate Judge Norah McCann King

v.

SAFELITE SOLUTIONS, LLC, et al.,

Defendants.

OPINION AND ORDER

This matter is before the Court on Defendants’ Motion to Strike Plaintiffs’ Reply

Memorandum in Support of Motion for Conditional Certification (ECF No. 19) and Plaintiffs’

Response to Defendants’ Motion to Strike and Supplemental Memorandum in Support of

Plaintiffs’ Motion for Conditional Class Certification, Expedited Discovery, and Court-

Supervised Notice to Potential Opt-In Plaintiffs (ECF No. 22).  In their motion, Defendants

argue that portions of Plaintiffs’ reply in support of their motion to conditionally certify a

collective action should be stricken because Plaintiffs have submitted new evidence and

argument, which is in violation of this Court’s Local Rules.  See S. D. Ohio 7.2(d) (“Evidence

used to support a reply memorandum shall be limited to that needed to rebut the positions argued

in memoranda in opposition.”).  

Specifically, Defendants contend that Plaintiffs’ theory of this case “was premised upon

the flawed assumption that Safelite’s timekeeping system for its [customer service

representatives (“CSRs”)] was tied to its computer system. . . . [and] that a collective action
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should be conditionally certified because all of Safelite’s CSRs utilized the same hardware and

software in the course of their work and were therefore similarly situated.”  (ECF No. 19 at 2.)  

Defendants argue that once they set forth evidence in their memorandum in opposition that the

timekeeping system is tied to the phone system–not the computer system–Plaintiffs filed their

reply and supporting affidavits which “reflect[] a dramatic abandonment of their theory of the

case and a search for one or more new theories.”  Id. at 2, 3.  Defendants’ arguments are not well

taken.

The Court does not agree that Plaintiffs have changed the theory of their case.  Plaintiffs

filed this action alleging that Defendant Safelite failed to compensate its CSRs for overtime pay

as mandated by Ohio and federal law.  The complaint provides:

Plaintiffs, on behalf of themselves and all similarly situated individuals, bring
this collective and class action against Defendants Safelite Solutions, LLC, and
Safelite Group, Inc. for monetary, declaratory, and injunctive relief due to its willful
failure to compensate employees with overtime pay in violation of the Federal Labor
Standards Act of 1938 (“FLSA”), 29 U.S.C. §§ 201, et seq., and The Ohio Minimum
Wage Act [“the Ohio Wage Act”], O.R.C. §§ 4111.01, 4111.03; 4111.10, committed
by requiring its Customer Service Representatives to start their daily shifts by
booting up its computer system but then omitting the time it takes each
Representative each day for the process of booting up from its calculation of the
hours Customer Service Representatives have worked that week and by failing to
maintain records of all the hours so worked by those Representatives.

(ECF No. 2 ¶ 1.)

Plaintiffs further identified the class of individuals whom they wished to represent: 

The collective class, or Opt-In Class, which Plaintiffs seek to represent is
composed of and defined as follows [“Collective Class”]:

All current or former Customer Service Representatives employed
during the past three years by Defendants who, when the time at the
start of each scheduled shift they spent booting up is included,
worked more than 40 hours a week and were compensated for such
overtime work at an amount equaling less than one and one-half
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times the Customer Service Representative’s regular rate of pay
based on a 40-hour workweek.

Id. ¶ 42.

Plaintiffs still contend that Defendant Safelite failed to compensate its CSRs for overtime

pay as mandated by Ohio and federal law.  Defendants’ argument goes to how Safelite

accomplished its alleged failure to pay CSRs for their time spent booting up their computers–not

whether Safelite failed to pay the CSRs for time spent booting up their computers.  That is,

whether Safelite omitted time integral to the job duties of CSRs is now and has always been the

primary liability issue.  Further, the Court does not find that Plaintiffs in their reply introduced

evidence to support any new arguments.  Defendants opposed the collective action motion by

arguing and submitting through affidavit testimony that it was indeed paying its CSRs for all

their time, and Plaintiffs responded by rebutting that argument with their own and other CSRs’

affidavits. 

Accordingly, the Court DENIES Defendants’ Motion to Strike Plaintiffs’ Reply

Memorandum in Support of Motion for Conditional Certification.  (ECF No. 19.) 

IT IS SO ORDERED.

/s/ Gregory L. Frost
GREGORY L. FROST
UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE
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